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1. Name of Property

historic name___Austin, Nichols & Company Warehouse

other names/site number

2. Location

street & number __184 Kent Avenue [ 1 not for publication
city or town Brooklyn [ 1 vicinity

state New York code _NY county _ Kings code _047 zip code 11211

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, | hereby certify that this [X] nomination [ ]
request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of Historic
Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements as set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property

[X] meets [ ] does not meet the National Register criteria. | recommend that this property be considered significant [X] nationally

[ ] statewide [ ] locally. ([ ] see continuation sheet for additional comments.)

Lol A Pt DSHED s/ joz

Signature of certifyinglofficial/Title ' Date

New York State Office of Parks, Recreation & Historic Preservation
State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property [ ] meets [ ] does not meet the National Register criteria. ([ ] see continuation sheet for additional
comments.)

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certification

| hereby/certify that the property is: Signatur, per date of action
[M entered in the National Register /
[ ]see continuation sheet ( z i / e 7

[ ] determined eligible for the National Register &
[ ] see continuation sheet

[ ] determined not eligible for the
National Register

[ ] removed from the National Register

[ ] other (explain)




Austin, Nichols & Company Warehouse
Name of Property

Kings County, New York

County and State

5. Classification

Ownership of Property

(check as many boxes as apply)

Category of Property
(Check only one box)

[X] private [X] building(s)
[ ] public-local [ ]district
[ 1public-State [ 1site

[ ]1public-Federal [ ]structure

[ ]object

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter “N/A” if property is not part of a multiple property listing)

N/A

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count)

Contributing Noncontributing
1 0 buildings
sites
structures
objects
1 0 TOTAL

Number of contributing resources previously
listed in the National Register

0

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(enter categories from instructions)

INDUSTRY/manufacturing facility and industrial storage

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)

LATE 19™ & EARLY 20™ CENTURY AMERICAN

MOVEMENTS/ No style

Narrative Description

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

VACANT/not in use

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation _concrete

walls concrete
roof synthetic
other

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets)
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Description

The Austin, Nichols & Company Warehouse, located at 184 Kent Avenue in Kings County, Brooklyn,
NY, occupies an entire block on the waterfront Kent Avenue extends to the east; the East River
borders the west side of the property; North 3™ Street frames the building to the south; and North 4"
Street dead ends across the street from the building but does not continue. The landscape features
are limited to concrete sidewalks surrounding three sides of the building. An empty lot is located to
the north of the warehouse. The six-story-tall Austin, Nichols & Company Warehouse is constructed
of steel-reinforced, poured in-place concrete. The building’s concrete exterior, patched liberally, is
coated in white paint." The building has a slightly irregular rectangular box shape with walls that slope
inward and are crowned by a coved concrete cornice throughout. The northwest corner of the
building is clipped at a slight angle. The roof is flat except for four sawtooth skyllghts that follow the
length of the building and four gabled skylights that follow the width of the building.?> Regular
groupings of paired and tripartite windows arranged in columns appear throughout every elevation.
Some of the original metal sash tilt windows have been replaced with double-hung aluminum sash
units. The neighborhood is populated with low-rise warehouses along the water’s edge; smaller-
scaled Iate nineteenth-century commercial and residential buildings stand nearby on North 6" and
North 7" Streets.

The east elevation, facing Kent Avenue, is nine bays wide. On the upper floors, all of the windows
are in tripartite groupings, except for the northernmost and southernmost bays, which are comprised
of pairs of narrow windows. The first floor has several large storefront-style openings and two
entrance openings: one at the southernmost bay and a garage-style door at the northernmost bay.
There is a cantilevered concrete canopy above the two loading bays at the north end. The gridded
metal windows, above the non-historic gates, are historic. Several openings have been sealed at the
first story.

The south elevation along North 3" Street, 26 bays wide, has a continuous concrete marquis
supported by curved concrete brackets that shades the various raised loading docks from the middle
to the west end of the elevation. The windows are grouped into pairs at the outer ends, followed by a
group of three tripartite windows, and another set of paired windows and then a center group of
sixteen bays of triple windows. All of the windows that are grouped in threes are linked by continuous
rounded pilasters.

The west elevation, visible from the East River, is eight bays wide. The southernmost bay consists of
paired narrow windows, while the rest of the elevation features groups of three windows. Most of the

! “Flake White Cement Paint” by William J. Niles of Philadelphia was originally applied to the building. The paint type was
noted in various letters from Niles to Gilbert included in the Cass Gilbert Collection, New York Historical Society. This
special “cold water paint” was also used on the Larkin Company Building in Buffalo, New York and on the American Hide
and Leather Company in Lowell, Massachusetts.

% These were installed by the Automatic Skylight and Ventilation Company.
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windows are non-historic. On the first story, there are seven raised loading bays, all of which have
been blocked up. The gridded glass above the fourth and fifth bay (from the south) is historic.

The north elevation is 26 bays wide and follows the same fenestration patterning as the south
elevation. The westernmost five bays are located on a stretch of wall that is canted slightly towards
the south. The first story has a series of loading bays that are nearly all blocked up.

The interior of the building is primarily open in plan with each floor havmg a grid of concrete columns
with square capitals, which become narrower as the floors increase. ® The floors are all accessed by
five stairways, seven freight elevators and one passenger elevator. The stairways are located in the
southeast corner, the center of the south wall, the southwest corner, the west side of the north wall
and the east side of the north wall. Although the stairway in the southeast corner is a “U” return stair,
the other four stairways are all double-“U” return stairs. All have concrete pan treads and risers and
painted pipe metal railings. The freight elevators and passenger elevator are scattered throughout
each floor.* There is a small elevator lobby in the southeast corner of the building that is present on
each floor. The building has concrete floors throughout.

The first floor is predominantly a two-story space except for the southwest corner of the floor, which
is single story. The two-story portion is only interrupted by a grid of double-height square concrete
columns. Along the north wall is a series of inoperable loading bay doors. The northwest quadrant of
the floor has been walled off in a later alteration. The north third of the floor is walled off from the
rest of the floor by a multi-light glass wall, which has since been painted white. There are also four
submerged loading docks on the first floor: two in the southwest corner, one on the east end of the
south wall and one in the northeast corner.

Because much of the first floor is two stories in height, the second floor only exists in the southwest
corner of the building. The space was converted into apartments in a late twentieth century alteration.
The second floor features drywall partitions throughout, round concrete columns, concrete perimeter
walls, exposed concrete ceilings with concrete girders, and concrete floors. Some of the apartments
feature wood flooring in the living areas.

The third floor has also been converted into apartments in a later alteration and features a double-
loaded corridor extending from east to west in the center of the floor, with apartments on either side.
Side hallways also provide access to other apartments. Like the second floor, the space has been
somewhat partitioned by new drywall walls. The third floor retains round concrete columns, concrete
perimeter walls, exposed concrete ceilings with concrete girders, and concrete floors.

The fourth floor was planned for a similar conversion as that on floors 2 and 3, but the project was
never completed. Consequently, the fourth floor has a similar layout to that of the third floor, but
much of the drywall remains uninstalled or unpainted and few of the systems have been connected.

y The columns were originally to have a steel core, but were eventually produced as reinforced concrete.
* The elevators were manufactured and installed by the Gurney Elevator Company.
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The fourth floor also has round concrete columns, concrete perimeter walls, exposed concrete
ceilings with concrete girders and concrete floors.

The east and west halves of the fifth floor have been totally separated by a wall that was introduced
in a later alteration during the 1990s. The southeast quadrant of the floor is currently being used as
office space and has been completely renovated as such. The northeast quadrant is untouched
warehouse space. The entire west half of the fifth floor has also been converted into apartments,
which are primarily located off of a double-loaded corridor.

The entire sixth floor has round columns and is untouched warehouse space with one small room
partitioned off in a later addition and located in the southeast corner.

184 Kent Avenue retains integrity, as the significant architectural features on both of the interior and
exterior remain intact. On the exterior, the only significant changes are the removal of the Austin,
Nichols & Company signs on the south and east rooflines of the building, the removal of the marquis
on the west elevation below the first floor windows, the addition of the balcony railing above the
concrete marquis on the south elevation and the removal of the remainder of the concrete marquis,
which originally extended the length of the south elevation.’ On the interior, there are virtually no
alterations to the concrete floors, columns and perimeter walls of the first or sixth floors. Although
floors 2 through 5 have undergone some recent partitioning, none of the original concrete elements
have been disturbed or removed and the alterations are mostly reversible.

® Above the South roofline was a sign reading: “Austin, Nichols & Co., Inc.”. Above the west roofline was a large electrical
sign in three lines reading: “Sunbeam/ Pure Foods/ - The World's Best”. This sign was to be the same size and lettering as
that on the Colgate Building in New Jersey. Electricity for this sign, and throughout the building, was provided by the
Edison Company.
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria Areas of Significance:
(Mark “x” in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property (Enter categories from instructions)

for National Register listing.)
Architecture

[X]A Property associated with events that have made
a significant contribution to the broad patterns Engineering

of our history.
Industry

[ 1B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

[X]C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or that
represents the work of a master, or possesses Period of Significance:
high artistic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components lack 1914-1939

individual distinction.

[ 1D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information Significant Dates:
important in prehistory or history.

1915
Criteria Considerations
(Mark “x” in all boxes that apply.)
[ 1A owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes. Significant Person:
[ 1B  removed from its original location N/A
[ 1C abirthplace or grave
[ 1D acemetery
Cultural Affiliation:
[ JE areconstructed building, object, or structure
N/A
[ 1JF  acommemorative property
[ 1G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance Architect/Builder:

within the past 50 years
Gilbert, Cass (architect)

Aus, Gunvald (structural engineer)

Narrative Statement of Significance
(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.) Turner Construction Co. (contractor)

9. Major Bibliographical References
Bibliography

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS): Primary location of additional data:
[X] preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) [ ] State Historic Preservation Office
has been requested.

[ ] previously listed in the National Register [ 1 Other State agency
[ ] previously determined eligible by the National Register [ 1 Federal Agency
[ ] designated a National Historic Landmark [X] Local Government — NYC LPC
[ ] recorded by historic American Building Survey [ 1 University
# [X] Other repository:
[ ] recorded by Historic American Engineering Record New York Historical Society
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Significance

Summary

Built in 1914-1915, the Austin, Nichols & Company Warehouse in Brooklyn is nationally significant in
architecture and engineering for its pioneering use of reinforced concrete technology on an
unprecedented scale in building one of the largest and most integrated food storage and distribution
facilities of its day in the nation. Designed by the nationally-prominent architect Cass Gilbert, the
78,800 square foot warehouse is remarkable not only for its engineering technology and planning,
but also for its architectural design. The warehouse design relies heavily on simple lines, proportions
and rhythmic fenestration expressive of the properties of reinforced concrete in contrast to the
elaborate decoration typical of Gilbert’'s more conventional commissions. The design celebrated the
strength and beauty of reinforced concrete at a time when it was far more common practice to
conceal structural elements in other materials and detail exteriors with historicist facades. The
design illustrates an unusually thorough understanding of the integration of warehouse and
transportation technology of the period while remaining inherently flexible for adaptation. Gunvald
Aus, Project Engineer and the Turner Construction Company, General Contractors, used their
pioneering experiences with reinforced concrete and the patented Ransome system innovatively on
this industrial scale project to ensure its rapid construction and extraordinary strength and durability.
The building was widely acclaimed as a success in contemporaneous architectural and engineering
journals and remains widely recognized today as a landmark of progressive engineering and
architecture. The warehouse, situated on the Brooklyn waterfront, is also significant in a regional
context in representing one of the largest and most progressively planned distribution operations in
the Port of New York during the First World War era. The period of significance spans from 1914 to
1939, the date when Austin, Nichols & Co. sold its grocery business.

Building History

In 1912, Harry Balfe, the vice president and general manager of Austin, Nichols & Company,
expressed his interest in moving the entire wholesale groceries distribution company from Manhattan
to Brooklyn. He selected a new site on the Brooklyn waterfront, on a block bounded by Kent Avenue,
North 3" and North 4™ Streets and the East River.® He wished to consolidate the company’s various
departments dispersed through nine separate buildings in Manhattan into one building to save
expenses, chiefly in the area of transportation of goods to and from the warehouse. Balfe stated to
the New York Times:”| have figured out that the saving to our firm will be $170,000 in trucking
charges alone. Then there will be a saving in clerical work, shipping clerks, and other items of
expense in the distribution, and eventually the consumer will get the benefit of all this saving.”” The
Brooklyn waterfront property was also ideal for its accessibility to water, rail and road. In 1913,
Havemeyer & Elder, which owned the land and the nearby American Sugar Company, entered into a
contract with Austin, Nichols to build a state-of-the-art customized headquarters, factory, and

® Frederick Walter, The History of the Austin, Nichols & Co., Inc: 1855-1955 (n.p., 1955), p. 28.
7 “Plan Big Terminal for Grocery Houses,” New York Times, June 27, 1912, ProQuest Historical Newspapers. The New
York Times (1851-2003).
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warehouse, which Austin, Nichols would lease.® Havemeyer & Elder assembled a team of seasoned
professionals to design and build the structure.

In January 1914, construction began on the warehouse. Cass Gilbert was selected as the architect;
Turner Construction Company served as the general contractor with project engineer Gunvald Aus.’
The resulting six-story industrial building, designed as a combined warehouse, factory and office
building, measures 179’ by 440’, is 80’ tall in the front and 92’ taII in the rear, and provides
approximately 78,800 square feet of space or about 14 acres.’ Relnforced concrete was selected
as the primary building material for its load bearing and fireproof qualities.'’ The simplistic design of
the building was summarized by Gilbert when he said, “It may be taken as an axiom in concrete
construction that the simpler the form the better the design. The nature of the materials dictates the
form of all its parts, and assuming that the purpose of the structure is kept in mind, as it should be,
this purpose is necessarily expressed in very simple terms. "2 The building was completed on
September 1, 1914 for a final cost of $866,005.23 for the entire building including the eqmpment

The new building was equipped with the latest technology inside, including spiral chutes, gravity
conveyors, overhead conveyors, lowerators (vertical conveyors), and pneumatic tubes.'* A quadratic
rail system accommodating 60 railcars directly accessed the ground floor of the building from
carfloats. Inside the building, food stuffs such as dried fruits, coffee, cheese, olives, caviar and
peanut butter were prepared, processed and packaged under the Sunshine Foods label. The
company also imported fancy groceries from Europe and elsewhere. In addition to food, sundries
such as cigars, soaps, wooden utensils and twine were manufactured in the buﬂdlng All of the
processed items were shipped out of the building by truck and rail.

® “lmportant Trade Movement to the Waterfront of the Boroughs of Brooklyn and Queens,” New York Times, November 8,
1914 ProQuest Historical Newspapers. The New York Times (1851-2003).
® Aberthaw Construction was originally approached, but they could not work outside of Boston. Turner Construction
Company also worked on the Loft Building for the Bush Terminal. Gunvald Aus Company Consulting Engineers also
worked on the Federal Building in Hilo, Hawaii, the dome for the Federal Building in San Juan, Puerto Rico and the
Woolworth Building, Gilbert's most famous work.
'° The lot measured 179’ by 463 and the building also had a basement and a mezzanine. “Statistical Data on the Austin,
Nnchols Warehouse. September 18, 1914.” Cass Gilbert Collection, New York Historical Society.
! “Advocacy: Austin, Nichols & Company Warehouse,” Society for Industrial Archeology Roebling Chapter Newsletter
gJuIy 2004) 13, 2, page 3. World Wide Web, accessed July 24, 2006.
2 Cass Gilbert, “Industrial Architecture in Concrete.” Architectural Forum 39:3 (Sept. 1923): 83. 83,000 cubic yards of
concrete was used in all.
3 «Statistical Data on the Austin, Nichols Warehouse. September 18, 1914.” Cass Gilbert Collection, New York Historical
Society.
b “Big Grocery Firm to Leave New York.” The gravity conveyors were supplied by Alvey Machinery of St. Louis, Missouri;
the pneumatic tubes were supplied by Lamson Company; the chutes and other conveyors were supplied by Haslett's
Spiral Chute Company. There were three chutes, 100’ apart; one terminated in the packing room, one in the first floor for
C|ty deliveries and another in the first floor for country deliveries. Cass Gilbert Collection, New York Historical Society.
® “Advocacy: Austin, Nichols & Company Warehouse,” p. 3.
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Each floor of the building was desngnated for specific tasks involving the production, packaging and
shuppmg of wholesale goods ® The basement was used for an engine room, fish storage, and olive
storage.'” The first floor included the shipping and receiving departments and some administrative
offices. The Mezzanine had bathrooms, employee lockers and a restaurant. The second floor had
the olive department, cereals, can labeling, tea and spice packing, green fruit storage, the exporting
department, a stockroom for canned goods, olive bottling, and a laundry room. The third floor
contained the extract and syrups department, the dried fruit department, the coffee packing
department for small orders. The fourth floor included rooms for coffee packing for larger orders and
spice packing, and storage for flour, extracts, syrups, dried fruits and spices. The fifth floor had more
administrative offices and processing and shipping departments, as well as storage for butter,
cheese, imported goods, woodenware, olives, dried fruit, cigars, spices, preserves, cereals, nuts,
peanut butter, tea, sugar and coffee, coffee roasters, and an employee restaurant. The sixth floor
also had coffee roasters, storage rooms for the green coffee and rooms for spice grinding and
cuttlng ® The coffee was kept on the north side of the floor, while the spices were kept on the south
end of the floor so as to keep the coffee and spices as separate and as fresh as possible.

A rectifying plant to produce and distill alcohol was installed in the building in 1934 by Austin, Nichols
& Company.'® In 1939, Austin, Nichols & Company sold off the grocery business entirely and
focused only on the production and distribution of wine and spmts The company exclusively
manufactured and distributed liquor in the building for about twenty years.

In 1955, Austin, Nichols & Company vacated the building and moved its headquarters offices, |mport
d|V|sron distilling and bottling plant and wholesale division to Maspeth, Queens at 58" Street and 55"
Drive.? From the late 1950s through the mid-1980s, the building was used by several different
manufacturing concerns.

After a few years of vacancy, the Kestenbaum family purchased the building in 1986 and converted it
into apartments.?® The present owner plans to rehabilitate the building using the Federal Historic
Preservation Tax Incentives Program.

'S Letter to Cass Gilbert regarding pneumatic tubes, March 18, 1914. Cass Gilbert Collection, New York Historical Society.
There were 111 bathrooms in the building.
The machinery for the coffee, spices and flour was supphed by the Jabez Burns Company, which was founded in 1864.
® Matthew Postal, “Austin, Nichols & Company Warehouse,” Submission to the Landmarks Preservation Committee
gSeptember 20, 2005), p. 7.
Postal p. 7. It was primarily sold to Francis H. Leggett & Company of New York on December 18, 1938.
#' postal, p. 7.
22 «pustin, Nichols Buys Maspeth Building,” New York Times, July 10, 1955, ProQuest Historical Newspapers. The New
York Times (1851-2003).
= Emily Kumler, “Battle over 184 Kent,” The Real Deal (February 2006), World Wide Web, accessed on July 19, 2006,
http://www.therealdeal.net/issues/FEBRUARY_2006/1138309895.php.
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Brief History of Austin, Nichols & Company

The wholesale grocery firm of Austin, Nichols & Company was founded by Friend P. Fitts in 1855, a
Manhattan grocer, and was soon after known as Fitts & Austin. The company specialized in the sale
and distribution of teas, coffees and spmts but had the approach that “expansion was the keynote of
the firm’s business from the very start.”** On January 1, 1879, James E. Nichols, Robert F. Austin
and four of their associates from Fitts & Austin founded Austin, Nichols & Company Beginning in
the mid-1860s, the company began packaging groceries and “was among the first grocery houses to
put up goods or have them packaged for them under their own brands. "2% From 1890 to 1914, the
company headquarters was located a 5-story building at 55-61 Hudson Street in Manhattan that was
originally built for the American Express Company. The company also occupied eight other
structures, with its fifty departments distributed in these buildings throughout Lower Manhattan,
Greenwich Vullage and Harlem and had overseas offices in Bordeaux, France, Seville, Spain and
London, England.?’ Its canned goods division, which was established in 1900 and was the largest
department owned by Austin, Nichols & Company, was manufactured under the Sunbeam Pure
Foods label. It was during the period of Nichols’ leadership from 1885 to 1909 that Austin, Nichols &
Company experienced |ts golden age: “it was perhaps better known than any other house in the
same line of business.”® Following the death of James E. Nichols in 1914, company vice-president
Harry Balfe assumed the leadership of the firm.?

Between 1913 and 1915, Austin, Nichols & Company continued their expansion and purchased such
grocery businesses as: Clark, Chapin & Bushnell; Stoddard, Gilbert & Company; and Johnston &
Murray. Austin, Nichols & Company also opened a branch office in Minneapolis, MN and acquired
the brokerage house of Meyer & Carmody Import Company.

During World War |, Austin, Nichols & Company operated an extremely successful exporting
business, primarily caused by the shortage of food and supplies in Europe and was soon exporting
average shipments of approximately 5,000 cases.*® Nonetheless, the Company did not neglect its
local market and added facilities for the manufacture of peanut butter, pickles, baked beans and jam
and opened a department for tires.?

On July 9, 1919, Austin, Nichols & Company purchased Wilson & Company, a large packing
business based in Chicago, and its allied companies, including Fame Canning Company in the

Walter p. 7. The best known brands were Arica, Morning Glory and Broadway for coffee, and Sunbeam for tea.

% “James E. Nichols Dies in Austria,” New York Times, July 22, 1914, ProQuest Historical Newspapers. The New York
Tlmes (1851-2003).

Walter p. 10.

" “Plan Big Terminal for Grocery Houses.”

Walter p. 14.

% Robert F. Austin died in New York in March, 1885.
¥ Walter, p. 31.
¥ Walter, p. 31.
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Midwest and the Wilson Fisheries Company on the Pacific Coast.*? The sale was financed by the
sale of Austin, Nichols & Company stock. However, with significant losses in profit, the company
closed its wholesale grocery branch in Chicago in 1926, and focused its jobbing operations in
Brooklyn.*®

Throughout the 1920s business continued at a steady pace, but was slightly hindered by the shift
from the focus on the wholesale grocer to the chain store. As a result, Austin, Nichols & Company
consolidated some of their business ventures such as the Minneapolis office, Meyer & Carmody
Import Company and several canneries.

Following the repeal of Prohibition with the 21%' Amendment in 1933, Austin, Nichols & Company
added liquor production and distribution to their beverage department, which had previously been
limited to fruit juices and soft drinks.>* After selling off the grocery business in 1939, Austin, Nichols
& Company produced and distributed wine and spirits. Of Austin, Nichols & Company’s departure
from the grocery business, the Journal of Commerce announced that Austin, Nichols & Company
was “one of the foremost wholesale houses, with branches throughout the interior servicing a
widespread trade. The name of A.N and the brand which it created were of national importance in
the food field. ...Its influence in the food field will long be felt.”*®

Consequently, Austin, Nichols & Company rented out three floors of the Brooklyn facility to Lehigh
Warehouse & Transportation Company of Newark, NJ in 1939 and the remainder of the space was
used for the exclusive production of “beer, wine and liquor and a few related products.“g’6 The
rectifying plant contained “adequate stocks of bulk whiskies for aging; an import department with the
exclusive distribution of many well known brands; and the general wholesale distribution of many
important and domestic brand.”’ The production of Wild Turkey brand bourbon at the Austin, Nichols
& Company Warehouse began in the 1940s.%

Austin, Nichols & Company vacated the building in 1955, but continued to produce alcohol in their
other plants, including Maspeth, New York and Coral Gables, Florida. In 1980, Austin, Nichols &
Company was purchased by Groupe Pernod-Ricard, an international spirits company.

% “New Yorkers Buy Great Canneries,” New York Times, July 21, 1919, ProQuest Historical Newspapers. The New York
Times (1851-2003). The best known brand of this division was “Ocean Gem.”
%3 “Austin Nichols’ Program,” New York Times, October 27, 1926, ProQuest Historical Newspapers. The New York Times
Q 851-2003).

The first liquor to be produced was 3.2% beer.
* Walter, p. 50.
% Walter, p. 51.
¥ Walter, p. 51.
% Wild Turkey was so named by Thomas McCarthy, the president of Austin, Nichols & Company at the time, for the
private supply of bourbon he traditionally took on turkey hunts. “History of Wild Turkey,” World Wide Web, accessed on
July 21, 2006, http://www.wildturkeybourbon.com/nest/history.asp. Other prominent brands were Grant’'s Scotch Whiskey,
Metaxa, and Charles Heidsieck Champagne.
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Cass Gilbert

The Austin, Nichols & Company Warehouse is significant as an outstanding example of industrial
work by nationally recognized architect Cass Gilbert. Moreover, the Austin, Nichols & Company
Warehouse is Gilbert’s first warehouse constructed on the East Coast and served as a prototype for
many other reinforced concrete warehouses.

Cass Gilbert was born in Zanesville, Ohio in 1859.% Introduced to architecture as a draughtsman and
carpenter's assistant in the office of A.M. Radcliffe, Gilbert enrolled at the Massachusetts Institute of
Technology in 1878 as a pupil of William R. Ware and Eugene Letang. After studying for two years,
he took a European tour in France and ltaly. Upon his return he joined the firm of McKim, Mead &
White. In 1882 he established a partnership with architect James Knox Taylor in St. Paul,
Minnesota.*® This partnership lasted until 1892, after which Gilbert continued to practice alone,
winning such important commissions as the Beaux-Arts style Minnesota State Capitol in Minneapolis,
MN (1895-1905; NR, 1972). Gilbert left for New York City in 1899, where his career continued to
flourish and he completed his most famous works, including the Beaux-Arts style United States
Custom House in New York City (1901-1907; NHL, 1972), the Gothic style West Street Building at 90
West Street in Manhattan (1905-071 NR, 2007), the Gothic style Woolworth Building at 233 Broadway
in Manhattan (1911-1913; NHL, 1966), the Gothic style New York Life Insurance Building in New
York City at 346 Broadway (1925-1928; NR, 1982); and the Neoclassical style United States
Supreme Court Building in Washington, D.C. (1933-1935).

Throughout his illustrious career, Gilbert’s project type was diversified and included utilitarian
buildings, such as warehouses, and highly-visible civic structures and skyscrapers. His aesthetic
choices also varied by project: rather than having a single definitive aesthetic, Gilbert’s style ranged
from Beaux Arts to Italian Renaissance to French Gothic*' In 1908, he made this statement about
his aesthetic flexibility: “My friends have sometimes wondered why | do not always work in one style,
but my response to this is that | find beauty in so many different things that | like to develop a subject
in the style which seems best adapted to the purpose.”*

Many of Gilbert’s buildings were Gothicized skyscrapers, the most famous of which was the
Woolworth Building in New York City. As the tallest building in the world until 1930, the Woolworth
Building earned Gilbert lasting fame both at home and abroad. Other notable works by Gilbert
include the Beaux-Arts style state capitols in Arkansas (1899-1915; NR 1974) and West Virginia
(1924-1932; NR, 1974); the modern industrial United States Army Military Ocean Terminal (also
known as the Brooklyn Army Terminal), in Brooklyn, NY (1918; NR, 1983); the Neoclassical style
United States Chamber of Commerce Building in Washington, D.C. (1922-1925; NR, 1992); three

% Zanesville, OH was partially laid out by Gilbert's grandfather, who was also the Mayor.

“ During this time, Gilbert primarily designed residences, churches and office buildings in the Shingle Style or
Richardsonian Romanesque. NR Nomination, p. 5.

% Although Gilbert did not study at the Ecole des Beaux-Arts himself, he did study with several who did or who themselves
studied with attendees, including Eugene Letang, William R. Ware and Charles McKim.

“ Postal, p. 4. To this end, most of his government buildings were done in the Beaux-Arts Style.
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Italian Renaissance style public libraries in St. Louis, MO (1909-1912), Detroit, Ml (1915-1921; NR
1983) and New Haven, CT (1908-1911); the Beaux-Arts style Essex County Court House in Newark,
NJ (1901), the Roman Revival style St. Louis Art Museum (1904), and the Beaux-Arts style Federal
Courthouse in New York (1934; NR,1987).

Gilbert chose the architectural expression of each project to suit its underlying purpose. A grand
public monument like the United States Custom House should be classically adorned and draped in
statuary because such a building would honor the nation and educate the public. A privately built
skyscraper like the Woolworth Building should soar in Gothic, because an aesthetically pleasing
building would earn a greater return for its owner. In line with that approach, Gilbert felt perfectly
comfortable designing reinforced concrete industrial buildings in such a way as to express the
simplicity and strength of the material.

Gunvald Aus®

By mid-1913, specifications for the warehouse had been determined and several buildings on the site
were demolished. Gunvald Aus (1861-1950) was hired as structural engineer and Gilbert asked him
to prepare separate plans for reinforced concrete and steel. Aus collaborated with Gilbert on many
projects, beginning with the dome of the Minnesota State Capital. Most of these projects were steel
framed but Aus told Havemeyer that he felt comfortable with either material. Though concrete was
used widely by 1910 and acknowledged to be less expensive than steel, Gilbert hoped that
“suggestions from contractors” could be used to their advantage. The warehouse was put out to bid
in October 1913 and by late November, the Turner Construction Company, specializing in reinforced
concrete construction, had been selected.

Turner Construction Company**

Founded by Henry Chandlee Turner in 1902, the firm was responsible for many of the largest and
most important buildings in New York and New Jersey. Trained as a civil engineer, after college he
worked with Ernest L. Ransome, the first major American builder to use reinforced concrete (see
section below for more information on Ransome). Through an agreement with his former employer,
Turner enjoyed exclusive patent rights to the Ransome system in the metropolitan area. This
arrangement greatly benefited Turner, who following minor jobs for the new IRT subway system, built
numerous structures for J. B. King & Co., Robert Gair, Irving Bush, and the Great Atlantic & Pacific
Tea Company. To highlight the company’s record, frequent letters and postcards were sent to
Gilbert, including images of the recently completed A & P warehouse in Jersey City, which received
an award from the art and architectural committee of the National Association of Cement Users in
1913. In subsequent years, Turner was responsible for many important structures, in both reinforced
concrete and steel. Notable examples include the Breakers Hotel (Schultz & Weaver, 1926) in Palm
Beach, Florida; Bloomingdale’s Department Store (Starrett & Van Vleck, 1930); the General Motors
Pavilion (Norman Bel Geddes) at the 1939 New York World’s Fair; the Chase Manhattan Bank

43

Postal, p. 4.
“ Postal, pp. 4-5; based on Donald E. Wolfe, Turner’s First Century: A History of the Turner Construction Company
(Greenwich Publication Group, 2002) and “Special Centennial Issue,” Turner News, March 2002.
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Building (Skidmore, Owings & Merrill, 1955-60; NR in Wall Street Historic District, 2007); Lincoln
Center (various architects, begun 1960); and the Hearst Headquarters (Norman Foster, 2006). The
firm celebrated its centennial in 2002.

Gilbert worked closely with Aus and Turner to meet the deadline. Plans, filed with the Brooklyn
Bureau of Buildings on January 12, 1914, after some adjustments, were approved on April 22, 1914.
Two mixing plants were installed at the site and the concreting began in March 1914. The number of
workers gradually increased during the year, reaching a height of 672 men by June 1914.
Constructlon was substantially complete in September 1914 and by March 1915 the plant was fully
operational.*> The rapid pace of construction did not go unnoticed. Engineering News reported that
“records in concrete construction were made . . . the remarkable progress made in its constructlon is
indicative of what can be done in reinforced concrete with proper organization and supervision.”

Simplicity is the keynote of the Austin, Nichols & Company Warehouse which features broad
concrete facades with a rhythm created by paired and tripartite windows, piers, and spandrels. The
use of concrete was hardly surprising in such a building, as referenced by the Turner Construction
Company in a letter to Gilbert on April 3, 1913, when they said: “Concrete, for grocery warehouses,
has become almost the standard form of construction throughout the century.”™ Likewise the
building’s lack of ornamentation was referenced by Gilbert when he summarized that a building’s
“principle claim to beauty lies in its proportlons not in its adornment” and that “simplicity [should be]
the basic principle in design in concrete.” *8 He believed that simple, austere forms were the most
appropnate for functional, industrial buildings and that any embellishment on such would be
insincere.”® Gilbert's design has been noted by the NYC Landmarks Preservation Commission to
exhibit a few key Egyptian- |nsp|red elements, namely a coved concrete cornice, battered walls, and
wide expanses of unbroken wall.®® In 1921, Architecture critic Arthur J. McEntee stated that the
Austin, Nichols & Company Warehouse is “an excellent example of the modern adaptation of
Egyptian architecture to the present requirements of commercialism.”

“® “Big Grocery Concern Formally Opened at Kent Ave. & N. Third St.,” Brooklyn Daily Eagle, March 25, 1915; “World’s
Greatest Grocery Business is Located Here,” Brooklyn Daily Eagle, April 4, 1915.

Eng/neer/ng News, Vol. 72, No. 20., 966.

“7 Letter from Turner Construction Company to Cass Gilbert, April 3, 1913. Cass Gilbert Collection, New York Historical
Society.
“8 Cass Gilbert, “The Greatest Elements of Monumental Architecture.” American Architect 136: 2574 (August 5, 1929):
141 Gilbert, “Industrial Architecture in Concrete,” p. 84.

“ Barbara S. Christen and Steven Flanders, eds. Cass Gilbert, Life and Work: Architect of the Public Domain. New York:
W.W. Norton and Company, 2001, p. 78-79.
% See Matthew A. Postal, Austin, Nichols & Co. Warehouse designation report. NYC Landmarks Preservation
Commission, September 20, 2005.
*" Arthur J. McEntee, “Recent Developments in the Architectural Treatment of Concrete Industrial Buildings,” Architecture
43 (Jan. 1921): 20.
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Reinforced Concrete Design

Thanks to engineer Ernest L. Ransome major advances in reinforced-concrete technology occurred
in the United States in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. These advances led to the
increasing popularity of the material in the United States.

The reinforced concrete construction system patented by Ernest L. Ransome utilized iron
bars that were cold-twisted much like licorice to create an irregular surface that would
improve bond strength between the reinforcement bars and the concrete . . . . The merits of
the Ransome system included ease and speed of construction, structural strength combined
with an economic use of materials, and improved characteristics of fire resistance . . . e

In 1892, Ransome began construction of two important early concrete buildings in Palo Alto,
California. Ransome’s engineering design for the Leland Stanford J. Museum, built in 1892, featured
a roof made entirely of concrete. The nearby women’s dormitory at Stanford University was also
built using Ransome’s reinforced concrete system and was noted for its swift construction time.
Ransome also experimented with concrete mixers, securing the first of several patents in 1884. In
1897 Ransome served as engineering and contractor for the Pacific Coast Borax Works in Bayonne,
New Jersey with the floor slabs poured integrally with the building’s framework; the floor slabs were
supported on solid concrete columns. In 1902, Ransome sold the patent rights for his reinforced
concrete construction system to Henry C. Turner.

Reinforced concrete created a major architectural revolution, but predominantly, at least at first, in
industrial architecture. In the words of historian Reyner Banham:
Around 1900...the action and the excitement were not in iron and steel but in concrete, which
was about to take off into the most spectacular stage of its development in the United States.
The new men...were above all specialists in concrete, and their subject matter — the Daylight
factory and the grain elevator — was to be (along with bridge building) concrete’s primary
province.

Banham argued that these structures constituted
...some of the true sources of the International Style, which will remain, as far as anyone can
yet see, the dominant style of the high art of architecture in the twentieth century.>*

The architects of these structures — the “specialists in concrete” — tended to be lesser known
practitioners, often working in industrial districts far from the major metropolitan areas of New York
and Chicago. Surprisingly, however, one of the earliest such practitioners (whom Banham tellingly

%2 John G. Waite Associates, Architects. “Old Nassau County Courthouse Historic Structure Report,” (March 2003), p. 7.
%% Reyner Banham, A Concrete Atlantis: U.S. Industrial Building and European Modern Architecture 1900-1925
gCambridge, Mass: MIT Press, 1986), p. 106.

* Ibid., p.107.
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neglected to include in his study) was a high-profile, high-style architect, based in New York City, who
had a prominent national practice better known for traditional styles and materials: Cass Gilbert.

By 1923, Gilbert’'s work in concrete was well recognized in America. In that year, the Architectural
Forum devoted its September issue entirely to the subject of concrete construction, and invited Cass
Gilbert to write the opening essay, “Industrial Architecture in Concrete.” The premise of the entire
issue, according to an “Editorial Comment” at the end, was that such buildings had the potential to
create an “original” American architecture:
The great outstanding promise that industrial building holds for the profession is the
opportunity of creating a style of architecture that will truly interpret modern conditions.
Without precedent to fetter the hand of the designer, the simple requirements of industrial
buildings should suggest appropriate forms that may eventually lead the way to the long
sought American style.*®

Gilbert, in his opening article, took a less ideological stance, discussing not what opportunities
concrete offered American architecture, but rather how American architects ought to design concrete
structures. His approach was quite straightforward:
It may be taken as an axiom in concrete construction that the simpler the form the better the
design. The nature of the material dictates the form of all its parts, and assuming that the
purpose of the structure is kept in mind, as it should be, this purpose is necessarily expressed
in very simple terms.>®

Coming from the designer of such grand, high-style and highly decorative buildings as the Custom
House and the Woolworth Building, such sentiments might sound surprising. But Gilbert was, among
other things, a pragmatic architect, who once defined a building as “a machine that makes the land
pay.” He believed economy of cost to be an unavoidable consideration in architecture:
As we build with a primary view to low cost (a matter which concerned the ancients very little,
as they had slave labor for their larger enterprises), we are forced to consider economy at
every stage.”’

If economy led to the use of concrete, then so be it. And if so, rather than attempting to adapt

concrete to existing architectural notions, architects needed to adapt their designs to the nature of

concrete:
If concrete, after full trial, proves to be the economical material for use, it will in time be well
designed. One thing we may be sure of, and that is that for the present at least the evidence
before us points toward simplicity as the basic principle of design in concrete, and that is a
lesson much needed in this complex, restless age. Why not make simplicity, then, the
keynote, and welcome it as a help and not an obstacle to good design? Why attempt to adorn
this simplicity with trinkets and gewgaws and patterns and raw bits of colored tiles or panels of

% “Editorial Comment,” Architectural Forum, Vol. 39, September 1923, p. 152.
% Cass Gilbert, “Industrial architecture in concrete,” Architectural Forum, Vol. 39, September 1923, p.83.
%" Gilbert, “Industrial architecture in concrete,” op. cit., p. 84:
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brick, or fictitious corbels, cornices, capitals or other details culled from traditional architecture
constructed of other materials? In short, the logic forbids such intrusions.®

This approach did not make Gilbert an ideologue for concrete, or, by extension, for the Modern
movement:

“I hold no brief,” as the phrase is, for concrete as against other useful materials. In other
words, | do not prefer it above others, except in certain specific cases where the nature of the
structure or economic reasons imply its use. It is not always the most economical material,
though it frequently is so, and as a structural material it requires very expert handling. Bad
concrete is not only worthless; it is dangerous, and concrete buildings should not be attempted
by incompetent or negligent builders. | remember my old friend George B. Post making a brief
speech on the subject of reinforced concrete some years ago in London, in which he
summarized the whole matter by saying: “Concrete is, as Sam Weller said of veal pies, ‘weal
pies is werry good things when you knows the lady as made 'em.”

But even as he proposed “simplicity” as the guiding principle for designing in concrete, he also
believed in the material’'s aesthetic possibilities:

There is no reason why our industrial buildings should be ugly. It is not necessary for a
building to be ugly in order to be useful. That’'s why skillful architects should design these
buildings.... In the fact that it is difficult to design an industrial building and make it look well,
lies the very reason why a highly expert architect should be retained, and most of the best
concrete construction contractors know this and prefer to work under, or with, such an
architect.*

How then should concrete buildings be designed?

There are great possibilities of texture in concrete, as yet untried, and texture is needed to
dispel a barrenness of effect in broad surfaces. In stone masonry or in brickwork the joints
alone would give a certain quality of “texture” in the surface of a wall, but while there are no
joints in concrete (except those widely spaced for expansion) there is no reason why the
texture of the surface may not be made beautiful.... | have seen a concrete bridge where the
aggregate was of a trap rock or granite that gave a rich, warm color and a beautiful texture to
the surface that could scarcely be rivaled by any other material.... There is something very
fine about a great gray mass of building, all one color, all one tone, yet modified by the
sunlight or shadow to pearly gray of wonderful delicacy. It is the big simplicity of the thing that
counts, and if there may be projections for necessary fire towers or elevator shafts, or other
salients, if there may be low roof structures for tank houses or machinery, and if the glass
surfaces are kept in scale, there may be silhouette, and light and shade and shadow and
reflected light that will make a picture not easily to be forgotten. Such effects may
occasionally be seen in concrete industrial buildings.*

%8 Ibid.

% Ibid., p. 86.
% Ibid., p. 84-85.
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Comparisons

The Austin, Nichols & Company Warehouse served as a prototype for two of Gilbert’s later
commissions: the Brooklyn Army Terminal (NR, 1983) and the R.C. Williams Warehouse (NR, 2005).
The nationally significant Brooklyn Army Terminal (1916-1919) resembles the Austin, Nichols &
Company Warehouse in its austenty and innovative use of reinforced concrete construction. Located
between 58" and 65" Streets and 2™ Avenue in Brooklyn, NY, the Brooklyn Army Terminal was one
of the largest reinforced concrete complexes built at the tlme of its construction with two warehouses,
two storehouses, adjoining structures, bridges and piers.’’ The 93-acre site was used as
warehouses and as a point of embarkation for military troops and supplies.®* Like the Austin, Nichols
& Company Warehouse, the complex was carefully integrated with several modes of transportation,
including railroad tracks that went beneath the building so that train cargo could be directly accessed
from the loading docks.

The two reinforced concrete warehouses on the Terminal site are the most similar to the Austin,
Nichols & Company Warehouse. These warehouses are both eight stories with open floors plans
that are only interrupted by evenly spaced, reinforced concrete capitals. As for the exterior, the
Brooklyn Army Terminal buildings are similar in the austere appearance and form to the Austin,
Nichols & Company Warehouse, with modestly ornamented rectangular box shapes, flat roofs and
stripped down pilasters and concrete projections. For the Brooklyn Army Terminal complex design,
Gilbert took the rectangular box shape of the Austin, Nichols & Company Warehouse a step further
by embellishing the corners of the buildings with tower-like projections. These fortress-like
projections served to emphasnze the vertical circulation patterns and broke up the massive block-like
horizontal storage spaces Gilbert wrote that the building was characterized by “extreme
simplicity...the structures are impressive and majestic because of their vast scale, severe design and
fine proportions.” ® The evenly punctuated vertical bays with three narrow windows in each strongly
resemble those of the Austin, Nichols & Company Warehouse. While the Brooklyn Army Terminal
and the Williams Warehouse both employ “mushroom” columns with flared capitals, Gilbert used
simpler columns for the earlier Austin, Nichols & Company Warehouse.

The Brooklyn Army Terminal complex received praise early on from internationally acclaimed
architect Le Corbusier who cited it in Towards a New Architecture (1923) as a prototype for
international modernism; late-twentieth-century architect Robert A. M. Stern, commented that the
Brooklyn Army Terminal was “one of the most aesthetically compelling industrial complexes ever
erected in the United States.” Gilbert himself described the use of concrete and austere appearance
of the warehouses at the Brooklyn Army Terminal by saying,

there is something very fine about a great gray mass of building, all one color, all one tone,

yet modified by the sunlight or shadow to pearly gray of wonderful delicacy. It is the big

The contractor was the Turner Construction Company, who also worked on the Austin, Nichols Warehouse.

The complex was also built with the idea that it could later be easily converted into an industrial use.

Sharon Irish, Cass Gilbert, Architect (New York: Monacelli Press, 1999), 148.

® Margaret Heilbrun, editor, Inventing the Skyline, the Architecture of Cass Gilbert (New York: Columbia University Press,
2000), 135.
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simplicity of the thing that counts...there may be silhouette, and light and shade and shadow
and reflected light that will make a picture not easily to be forgotten. Such effects may
occasionally be seen in concrete industrial buildings. ...It was this sort of thing | sought to
achieve in the Army Supply Base in Brooklyn, and these are among the considerations that
dictated its design. If it has in any respect been successful as a work of architecture (aside
from its practical efficiency), it is because of its manifest snmpllcny

The R.C. Williams Warehouse, constructed in 1927 for another large wholesale grocer is a 10- story,
20,000 square foot building occugylng the entire blockfront of Tenth Avenue between West 25" and
West 26" Streets in Manhattan.®® The R.C. Williams Company was established in 1809 on Long
Island, NY, by Rlchard S. Williams and John Mott and was one of Austin, Nichols & Company’s
largest competitors.®” The R.C. Williams Company undoubtedly knew of Cass Gilbert from his
national reputation, but the company also knew about his earlier warehouse for Austin, Nichols and
Company. As part of the planning process for the Williams Warehouse, John Rockart of Cass
Gilbert’s office, took Williams on a tour of the Austin, Nichols warehouse, where they insgeected
everything from tanks for olive oil storage to peanut butter machinery to the caviar room.™ Like the
Austin, Nichols & Company Warehouse, the R.C. Williams Warehouse has a relnforced concrete
facade broken up by broad columns in bays comprised of three rectangular windows.®® However, the
overall appearance of the building more closely resembles the Brooklyn Army Terminal with tower-
like projections at the corners with narrow slit windows that give the building the appearance of a
fortress. The interior of the building has reinforced concrete mushroom columns (nine running North
to South, four running East to West), which are the only interruption to the otherwise open floor plan.
In the center of each floor is a shaft area that contains the elevator shafts, staircases and fire towers
Instead of having the rail lines that ran through Austin, NIChOlS & Company Warehouse, 259-273 10"
Avenue had its own elevated electrified private right-of-way.” In contrast, the Austin, Nichols &
Company Warehouse is more austere in its ornamentation, with the overall appearance of a large
rectangular box with a slightly splayed base and coved cornice.

® Gilbert, “Industrial Architecture in Concrete,” p. 84-85.
- R C. Williams, one of the oldest grocers in the country, was established in 1811.

®” National Register Nomination. “R.C. Williams Warehouse,” 2005, 8/1. R.C. Williams, like Austin, Nichols & Company,
capltallzed on the profitable liquor industry, when they began distributing liquor c. 1933.

John R. Rockart Report, December 31, 1926, in the Cass Gilbert Papers at the New York Historical Society.

The contractor was the Barney-Ahlers Construction Company

7® National Register Nomination. “R.C. Williams Warehouse.”
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Conclusion

“The Austin, Nichols & Co. Warehouse remains one of the most impressive structures on the East
River; not only is it a superb and highly visible example of early twentieth century engineering, but it is
also one of the earliest reinforced concrete warehouses in the United States designed by a nationally
prominent architect.””' The warehouse is a masterful example of how Gilbert successfully merged
aesthetic, functional, and fiscal considerations. Built to house the largest grocery wholesaler of its
time, the building was an engineering marvel, satisfying programs of food processing, storage,
refrigeration, and delivery through a host of the latest transport mechanisms of the day. His design
provided an efficient, economical reinforced concrete building with a clean, austere style that was a
forerunner to the warehouses and factories common from the mid-twentieth century to the present
day.

"' Postal, p. 2.
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Property Owner (Complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO)

name 184 Kent Fee, LLC attn: Thomas O’'Gara
street & number __300 East 42™ Street telephone__(212) 687-3444
city or town New York state _NY zip code 10017

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain a
benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.)

Estimated Burden Statement: public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including time for reviewing
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of
this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.O. Box 37127, Washington, D.C. 20503
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10. Geographical Data

Verbal Boundary Description
The boundary of the nominated property is shown as the heavy black line on the accompanying map.
The property is known as 184 Kent Avenue. Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 2348, Lot 1.

Beginning at the corner formed by the intersection of the westerly side of the Kent Avenue with the
northerly side of North 3" Street, running thence northwardly along the westerly side of Kent Avenue,
178 feet and 67 one-hundredths of a foot, thence westwardly and at right angles to the said westerly
side of Kent Avenue 365 feet and 36 one-hundredths of a foot to a stake, thence westwardly at an
angle of 171deg20’20” with the last course, 84 feet and 63 one-hundredths of a foot to the existing
bulkhead line 166 feet and 16 one-hundredths of a foot to the northerly side of North 3" Street (or a
projection westwardly on a straight line thereof) meeting said north side of North 3 Street at an angle
of 93deg0'45”, thence eastwardly along the north side of North 3" Street 460 feet and 32 one-
hundredths of a foot to the said westwardly line of Kent Avenue at the point or place of beginning, said
premises containing in area 82,857 square feet.”

Boundary Justification
The nominated property includes the entire parcel on which the building is situated and historically
associated with the nominated property. No historically associated resources have been excluded.

"2 Cass Gilbert Collection, New York Historical Society.
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Form researched and prepared by
Sheryl Jaslow

Powers & Co., Inc.

211 North 13" Street, 5" Floor
Philadelphia, PA 19107
215-636-0192
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PHOTOGRAPH LIST

Austin, Nichols & Company Warehouse
Kings County, NY

Logan McClintic-Smith

October 2006 (photos 1-20)

January 2007 (photos 21 & 22)

Negatives on file: Powers & Company, Inc., 211 North 13" Street, 5™ Floor, Philadelphia, PA 19107

Photograph # Description of View
1 View facing southwest at East and North Elevations
2 View facing northwest at East and South elevations
3 View facing northwest at East and South elevations
4 View facing northwest at South elevation, West end
5 View facing north, Detail of Window, South elevation, West end
6 Roof, View facing west
7 Roof, View facing east
8 6" floor, view facing northwest
9 5" floor, view facing west
10 4" floor, view facing west
11 3“ floor, Stairway B, view facing northwest
12 2™ floor, Stairway C, view facing south
13 1% floor, view facing east, East end
14 1% floor, view facing east
15 1% floor, view facing east
16 1% floor, view facing north, Detail of Loading Bay
17 1 floor, view facing west
18 1* floor, view facing west, West end
19 1% floor, view facing southwest, West end
20 1* floor, view facing north
21 North elevation and partial east elevation, looking southwest
22 North and west elevations, looking southeast
Appendix A

“Rapid Construction of a Large Reinforced-Concrete Warehouse.” Engineering News, November 12, 1914,

Vol. 72, No. 20; pp. 966-67.
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Existing Plans

1st Floor

Austin, Nichols & Co. Warehouse
184 Kent Avenue

Brooklyn, NY
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Existing Plans

2nd Floor

Austin, Nichols & Co. Warehouse
184 Kent Avenue

Brooklyn, NY
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Existing Plans

3rd Floor

Austin, Nichols & Co. Warehouse
184 Kent Avenue

Brooklyn, NY
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Existing Plans

4th Floor

Austin, Nichols & Co. Warehouse
184 Kent Avenue

Brooklyn, NY
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Existing Plans

5th Floor

Austin, Nichols & Co. Warehouse
184 Kent Avenue

Brooklyn, NY
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Existing Plans

6th Floor

Austin, Nichols & Co. Warehouse
184 Kent Avenue

Brooklyn, NY




Existing Plans

Roof Plan

Austin, Nichols & Co. Warehouse
184 Kent Avenue

Brooklyn, NY
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UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
EVALUATION/RETURN SHEET

REQUESTED ACTION: NOMINATION

PROPERTY Austin, Nichols and Company Warehouse
NAME :

MULTIPLE
NAME :

STATE & COUNTY: NEW YORK, Kings

DATE RECEIVED: 5/18/07 DATE OF PENDING LIST: 6/05/07
DATE OF 16TH DAY: 6/20/07 DATE OF 45TH DAY: 7/01/07
DATE OF WEEKLY LIST:

REFERENCE NUMBER: 07000629

REASONS FOR REVIEW:
APPEAL: N DATA PROBLEM: N LANDSCAPE: N LESS THAN 50 YEARS: N
OTHER: N PDIL: N PERIOD: N PROGRAM UNAPPROVED: N
REQUEST: N SAMPLE: N SLR DRAFT: N NATIONAL: p 4
COMMENT WAIVER: N

_LACCEPT ___RETURN ___ REJECT 6/&5’/07 DATE

ABSTRACT/SUMMARY COMMENTS : M
& Ve 9,

é/rLMW""_? W""’fm

/V"/‘"""’H'P

RECOM. /CRITERIA A -
REVIEWER Mﬂdgz/ﬁq DISCIPLINE

TELEPHONE DATE

DOCUMENTATION see attached comments Y/N see attached SLR Y/N

If a nomination is returned to the nominating authority, the
nomination is no longer under consideration by the NPS.
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The New York City Landmarks Preservation Commission

1 Centre Street, 9" Floor North, New York NY 10007 TEL: 212-669-7922 FAX: 212-669-7797
http://nyc.gov/landmarks/

RONDA WIST
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
rwist@lpc.nyc.gov

gy S JAN 25 2007
Ms. Ruth Pierpont, Director
New York State Office of Parks, Recreation
and Historic Preservation
P.O. Box 189
Peebles Island
Waterford, New York 12188-0189

Re: Austin. Nichols & Company Warehouse. 184 Kent
Avenue. Brooklyn. New York

Dear Ms. Pierpont:

I write on behalf of Chair Robert B. Tierney in response to your request for comment on the
eligibility of the Austin, Nichols & Company Warehouse at 184 Kent Avenue in Brooklyn for the
State and National Registers of Historic Places.

The Commission strongly supports the nomination of the Austin, Nichols & Company
Warehouse. On September 20, 2005, the New York City Landmarks Preservation Commission voted
to designate the Austin, Nichols & Company Warehouse an individual New York City landmark.
Designed and built in 1914-15 to serve the world’s largest wholesale grocery business, this rare
Egyptian Revival style industrial building is one of the largest and most significant structures on the
Brooklyn waterfront.

Therefore, based on the Commission’s review of the property and the materials submitted by
the Historic Preservation Field Services Bureau, the Commission has determined that the Austin,
Nichols & Company Warehouse appears to meet the criteria for inclusion on the State and National
Registers of Historic Places.

Sincerely yours,
@W UA A
Ronda Wist :

cc: Robert B. Tierney, Chair
Mary Beth Betts



March 7, 2007

Kathleen A. Howe

Historic Preservation Specialist

NYS Office of Parks, Recreation & Historic Preservation
Field Services Bureau

Peebles Island

P.O. Box 189

Waterford, NY 12188-0189

RE: 184 Kent Avenue Nomination for National Register

Dear Ms. Howe,

On behalf of 184 Kent Fee, LLC | gladly approve this building’s nomination to the
National Register to be declared a certified historic structure. As a tribute to its

architectural heritage, an original 1913 Cass Gilbert structure should only find
itself comfortably suited under the National Register of Historic Places.

Best regar&
\ |
2 < \
Jason M. Ha

Member, 184 Fee, LLC.

MAR -8 2007

A Real Estate Development Company
300 East 42™ Street, 16" Floor
New York, NY. 10017
Tel: 212-687-3444 Fax: 212-883-8267



i

Tnelined sereens of the bar type have the further nbjec-
fron of ]n‘[‘l:xilTil'::’ L ) pereentame: of n'-vﬁ«izv nuterial
to pass through the bav spacings. Neither ean a thorougsh
washing el cleansing ol the material be etfeeted an this
type of sereer. | mve ver o see anvihing like a well
orded  and  washed material producedover TEATILY
SCTCEIS.

A New Tyrr or Scapes—Mention sbeuld De wade
here of a washing sereen that has heenin serelee
a large number of planis throughout the country during
the past two vears. i
tory results thar it is worthy ol a hriel description. One
of the lareest plans in the copntry with a daly capaeity

of 3000 cuvd. is now installine a bhattery of 21

This sereen is wiving <ich satisfe-

ol these
sereens.

Thix type of screen i< i many respects au nuprovement
over the Gilbert sereer. Referring to Fig. 5, the screens
of a single hattery are all mounted on the same shafr. A
single pair of gears is e fodrive all the sereeus. thus
dispensing with a separate drive for each sereen, with the
atiendant line shalting, bearines, vears, sprockets and
chains.  The material also travels differenily in this
style of screen, heing delivered into the large end and
traveling toward the small end as shown in Fig. -+

The feature that appeals to the writer in this type of
screen, however, is that the larze end of the screen does
the principal work. The laree end has more perforations,
more scteening surface and consequently a greater ca-

ENGINEERING

NEWS NFusl o 2l N, 2ty

;i:ll-ii.\' than the Gilbert seveon.  Greater <ereening ef-
ficieney, less power andd <tall e p expense are cladmed
{for thiz fype of sereen.

The screen bas honzciiedinal joints and ecan be dis-
nantled from the shaft distnrbing the shalt.

Pipe nozzles ave placed at the discharge vnd of the sereens

withont

for injecting water to prevent the material from discharg-
ing ton rapidly and eareving over sone ¢f the finer !mrfs,
This screen is patented aud nanutactured by the Ray-
mosd W. Dutt Co.of Chicago. TH ' '

| Thi= article will he concluded inca fortheoming issue.

— . |

Rapid Construction of a Large

Reinforced-Concrete
Warehouse

The Austin-Nicholz warchonse, which s just been
completed at North Third Stoawd Kent Ave., in Brook-
Iy, N. Y. is a zood example of a modern reinforced-
vonerete building of the warehouse type. and the remark-
able progress made in its construction is indicative of
what can be done in reinforeed concrete with proper
organization amd =upervision.

The building is located on the East River water-
Front. immediately alongside of one of the. railway ter-
winals. tracks from which enter the second story of the

Fi1es. 1 To 6. ProGre

¢ Views oF CONSTRUCTION 0F AUSTIN=NICHOLS

East RIvER

Grocery  WAREHOUSE,

WATERFIONT. BrooskLyN. N. Y.

thate

of vieh view markKed on cut: entire building completed in nine months,)



TR I S

“after the awarding of the contract.

November 12, 1914 ENGIXN
warchouse.  These tracks are carried on steel girders and
columns, but the entire remainder of the building is of
reinforced concrete, the structure being of the regular

column, girder and slab type. The building is 440 ft.

EERING

NEWS 967

by gravity.  The other mising plant. a duplicate of the
first, was located at the other end of the building, and
was approached from the storage bin hy narrow-gage
tracks, on which ears, driven by an endless cable, mrrlc«l
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Fi6. 7. DETaiLs oF CoNCRETING PraNT 0N AusTiN-NICHOLS BUILDING

long and 178 ft. 8 in. wide, and has six stories and base-
ment, the story height being 12 ft. 6 in. from floor to
floor. It is to be u~cd as a storage warehouse for the
large grocery firm, Austin Nichols & Co. Each typical
floor bay is 16 ft. 614 in. by 19 ft. 5 in. and is carried
on 2-ft. x T-in. beams framing into 2-ft. 5-in.x 12-in.
-'irdcrs. which frame into the columns., It was erected
on xoft foundations, which rcquuml timber piles and re-
inforced-concrete griilages carrving the column footings.
It contains 23,000 enyd. of reinforied conerete, which re-
quired 32,200 bbl. of cement and 1567 tons of rein-
forcement.  There were over a million square feet of hum-
her in the forms and some 2500 piles used in the founda-
tion. which had 26,100 cuyd. of excavation. These fiv-
ures will give some idea of the size of the building.

The contract for the huilding was awarded on Dee. 1.
115, and called for substantial completion on Sept. 1.
1914, Work was started on the fonndations verv zoon
but conereting was
not commenced until March, 1914, From that time on.
speed records in conerete construction were made.  The
mining plants were installed as shown in the accompany-
ing Fie. 1. One plant was loeated at the dock line of the
milding. and here was placed the storage for the con-
rete marerial. which was bronght in by barges. and loadel
directly above the mixer in <and and esravel bins. Along-
side of the storage plant was loeated a mixer and a con-
eiete vlevator.  Turo this mixer the materials were chuted

the matcrial to the mixer. All machinery was electrical-
ly driven. With these two plants, 695 cu.yd. of concrete
were placed in one 8-hr. day.

The progress in carrying up the building is shown in
the accompanying views, Figs. | 1o 6,.which give approxi-
mate monthly progress on the work. As a rule. one en-
tire floor, including columns, heams, girders and floor
slabs of 80.000 sq.it. of floor space. was concreted in five
days at the rate of 16.000 sq.ft. of floor per working eight-
hour day. with 600 men working on the building. One
set of side-wall forms was used and the stated progress
permitted the removal of the first placed side forms on any
one loor for the beginning of the next foor hy the time the
first floor had been tinished : that is. the side forms were
allowed to stay in about five davs. The struts supporting
the Hloor svstem were, of course. allowed to stay in the reg-
ulation three weeks.

The architeetural design of
made by Cass Gilbert, of New York City. is somewhat
unique. s Fieo 6 will <how.  The grouping.of small
windows in parallel lines in both directions gives a differ-
ent appearance o the building than is common in, rein-
forced-concrete buildines,  This was permissible. of
rourse, o awecount of the nature of* the building. which
Jid not require any very wreat amount of natural light.

The entire contract was carried out by the Turner
Construction Co.. 11 Broadwav. New York Citv, in the
contract period of nine months.

the building, which was



